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The Mitchell County Courthouse is a large two and one-half story post rock building
that was designed in the Richardsonian Romanesque style. Post rock is a type of lime-
stone found in Kansas in an area covering over three million acres, stretching from the
Nebraska border near Mahaska almost directly southwest to a few miles north of Dodge
City. This stone was extensively used by the early settlers as a substitute for wooden
fence posts, which were scarce, costly and not resistant to prairie fires, hence its
name. The stone is generally located directly under the topsoil in much of the region;
it is uniform in depth, seldom being less than eight or more than twelve inches thick;
it is soft enough to shape with a chisel when freshly quarried, and it hardens after
being exposed to the air. The stone itself is a creamy-buff color that generally has
a brown streaked layer somewhere near the center. This native limestone became the
traditional building material in the area.

The Mitchell County Courthouse measures 95 feet on the east and west facades and
75 feet 8 inches on the north and south sides. The courthouse has been trimmed with
Warrensburg sandstone and rests on a Cottonwood Falls limestone foundation. The court-
house square, which is densely planted,is located to the east of the main business street
in Beloit. :

The main facade, which faces west, is dominated by a 110 feet tall square tower.
The entrance is protected by a one story porch with a Syrian archway. This arch has
been repeated in the flat arch around the actual doorway. The impost blocks have been
intricately carved with vegetative forms. The squat pillars which support the two
arches are polished Missouri red granite. The inscription, "19<ERECTED+01" has been
carved in relief above the archway. A series of small arches are cut out of the stone
balustrade above the date. The tower which rises for six stories above the porch is
divided by the irregularly spaced dressed stone string courses. A Seth Thomas clock
with dials on all four faces and a 1500 pound bell are installed in the tower. The
tower is capped with a pointed spire and a flag staff which rises more than 130 feet
above the ground.

The west facade has been symmetrically designed around the tower. The facade
is divided horizontally by wide bands of cut stone at the first and second floor levels,
and below the cornice line. The cornerstone, which is engraved with the names of the
three county commissioners, architect, contractor and superintendent,has been placed
in the wide stone bank that separates the foundation from the first story on the north
corner. A vertical rhythm has been set up by the projecting end  wings which have
been further emphasized by the slightly projecting three story wall dormers. The
windows are set off by Warrensburg stone lintels and sills. A1l windows on the second
story have transoms while those on the projecting wings and the wall dormers above the
cornice line have fanlights set in round-headed arches.

The north and south facades have been similarly designed. The central element
on these facades is a slightly projecting three story wall dormer flanked by chimneys
which accents the Syrian archway on the first story. This arch repeats the design

of the archway on the west facade though access is by a straight side staircase which
faces west. ‘
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Mitchell County Courthouse, which was built in 1900-1901, is a fine example
of late Richardsonian Romanesque architecture. It represents the mature style of J.C.
Holland, a prominent turn-of-the-century Kansas architect. The local post rock 1limestone
extensively used on the exterior not only complements its setting but also demonstrates
the high level of local craftsmanship.

Mitchell county was first settled in 1867 and formally organized in 1870. Beloit
was selected as the county seat, and T.F. Hersey, one of the proprietors of the Beloit
Town Company, reportedly gave the first courthouse building to the county. As the
county developed, the 1871 building became too small, and eventually it was also regardec
as unsafe. The county acquired a number of other small buildings and rented office
space scattered around Beloit. Although this made it very unhandy for those having
business with county officers, periodic efforts to secure a new courthouse where all
county officers and records could be housed under one roof met with no success.

On March 14, 1900, the old Brunswick Hotel located just to the east of the Beloit
commercial district on Block 4 was destroyed by fire. Almost immediately interest
developed in using Block 4 as the site for a new county courthouse. The city began
negotiating for the various parcels on the block and officially offered to provide the
county a site for courthouse construction at no cost. The county commissioners--Slater
White, Emanuel Dial and Charles M. Grecian--agreed to put the question of a new court-
house to the voters. On May 29, 1900, a county wide election was held to approve a tax
levy for building a $40,000 courthouse on Block 4 in Beloit. The proposition carried
by a 689 vote margin in spite of strong opposition from the community of Glen Elder whict
had county seat ambitions.

In June, 1900, the county commissioners began interviewing architects, and the city
of Beloit hastened to complete the acquisition of all of Block 4. In July the county
commissioners toured the new Geary County Courthouse in Junction City which had been
designed by architect J.C. Holland of Topeka. They 1liked what they saw and engaged Holl:
to prepare the plans. The Mitchell County Courthouse was to be patterned after the
one in Geary county.

At their meeting on September 3, 1900, the county commissioners accepted the deed
from the city to the courthouse site and also opened bids for construction. The general
contract was awarded to Cuthbert and Sargent of Topeka with a Tow bid of $33,840. The
plumbing and heating contract was awarded to Western Plumbing Co. of St. Joseph, Missour
for $2,525. (Because of the firm's difficulties in making bond, the contract was
apparently later awarded to the Harrington Supply Co., also of St. Joseph.)
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The east facade has a central wing which projects forward. The windows
have been symmetrically arranged around the tall stone chimney which is
centered on the facade. A1l windows are rectangular, while those on the
second story have transoms. There is a three story wall dormer set in the
corner to either side of the central wing.

Major modern changes to the courthouse include the resurfacing of the
hip roof with green asphalt shingles and the remodeling of the interior. A
one story building has been constructed close to the east facade visually
obstructing much of it.

No. 8

Excavation work began in mid-September and by October 9 the foundation
stone was being laid. On October 20 the county commissioners employed A.B.
Brookfield to superintend the construction of the courthouse. The winter
weather halted masonry work for several months but work began again in March,
1901.

Cornerstone laying ceremonies were held April 4, 1901, with a parade,
music and speeches. The governor of Kansas, William Stanley, was the featured
guest and gave a short address.

In April A.M. Neuman of Beloit was given the contract to paint the
interior. Also, the contract for the metal furnishings was awarded to the
Art Metal Construction Company of St. Louis for $1290.

By May 9 the Beloit Gazette was reporting that the joists for the upper
floor were in place, and two weeks later the window frames for the third
floor were being installed. In July the roof was put on, and in August the
slate was installed. In charge of the carpentry work for Cuthbert and
Sargent was Mr. Vansant of Topeka.

M.S. Tidrick of Beloit had the contract for plastering the courthouse
and began work August 7. By the end of August most of the stonework was
completed; only part of the tower remained, and that was done the first week
of September.

November 26, 1901, was the dedication day for the courthouse in conjunc-
tion with the annual old settlers day. A large crowd attended to view the
parade and hear an afternoon of speeches, which ended with an oration by the
Kansas lieutenant governor, James A. Troutman.
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Apparently all of the county officers were in their new offices by the
first of December. The total cost of the building for the county was $38,310
which was broken down as follows: material and labor, $33,940; plumbing,
$2,525; architect, $1,100; superintendent, $745. The city's cost for the
site and filling it to grade was estimated at $10,000. The city also paid
for the Seth Thomas clock which was installed in early 1902.

The building has continued to serve as the center of government for
Mitchell county. With its 110-foot tower the structure is reputed to be one
of the tallest native stone structures in the state.

"Dedication," Beloit Gazette, November 28, 1901.

Muilenburg, Grade, and Ada Swineford, Land of the Post Rock (Lawrence, Kansas,
University Press of Kansas, 1975), p. 127.

"A Trace of Early County History," Glen Elder Sentinel, February 28, 1935.
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